THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

Case Number 2018-001516

---

Johnnie Bias, Employee, Appellant,

v.

SCANA Corporation, Self-Insured Employer, Respondent.

**RECEIVED**

SEP 17 2018

SC Court of Appeals

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Jacob M. Smith, Esquire  
SC Bar No.: 100757  
Smith & Jones Law, LLC  
945 E. Main St., Suite B  
Lexington, SC 29072  
Attorney for Appellant

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT BIAS SUSTAINED A COMPENSABLE WORK-RELATED INJURY WHERE THE COMMISSION'S FINDING THAT BIAS DID NOT SUSTAIN A COMPENSABLE WORK-RELATED INJURY IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE?
  
- II. DID THE COMMISSION IMPROPERLY CONSIDER (i) THAT BIAS WAS RECEIVING SOCIAL SECURITY DISABILITY BENEFITS AND (ii) THAT BIAS'S MEDICAL TREATMENT HAD BEEN PAID BY HIS HEALTH INSURANCE PROVIDER IN DECIDING BIAS DID NOT SUSTAIN A COMPENSABLE WORK-RELATED INJURY?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises from a work-related injury sustained by Appellant/Claimant, Johnnie Bias ("Bias"), on October 14, 2014. The Respondent/Defendant, SCANA Corporation ("SCANA"), denied the claim.

Bias filed a Form 50, Request for a Hearing, on January 24, 2017, seeking benefits for an injury by accident and/or aggravation of a pre-existing condition to his left hip, left leg, left ankle, left hand, left wrist, left arm, buttocks, back, right hip, right leg, right ankle, right foot, nervous system, bladder, urological system, penis and psychological overlay. On February 23, 2017, SCANA filed a Form 51, denying Bias sustained an injury by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment.

A hearing was held on September 19, 2017, in front of Commissioner Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr. ("Single Commissioner"). At the hearing, Bias contended that (1) he suffered an injury by accident and/or aggravation of a pre-existing condition to his back, left leg, right leg, bladder, urological system, penis, and resultant psychological as affirmatively found by Dr. Poletti, Dr. Rames, Dr. Gunter, Dr. Lind, and Dr. Hutcheson; (2) he was entitled to past, present and future medical treatment and care due to his work-related injuries, as affirmatively found by Dr. Poletti, Dr. Rames, Dr. Gunter, Dr. Lind, and Dr. Hutcheson; (3) he was entitled to additional medical treatment, as he had not reached maximum medical improvement for all work-related injuries; (4) he was entitled to back TTD, as he did not return to work following his October 14, 2014 work-related injury as he was written out of work by Dr. Poletti, and was subsequently terminated; and (5) if deemed to be at maximum medical improvement, Bias contended he was permanently and totally disabled under S.C. Code §42-9-10, as a combination of his work-related injuries

resulted in the complete destruction of his earning capacity and alternatively under S.C. Code §42-9-30, as he was permanently and totally disabled after suffering greater than fifty-percent (50%) loss of use to his back.

On January 18, 2018, the Single Commissioner issued his Order finding that Bias did not sustain a compensable injury by accident on October 14, 2014. Furthermore, while the Single Commissioner found that not all of Bias's issues preexisted the date of his injury, the Single Commissioner concluded that Bias did not sustain a compensable aggravation of a pre-existing condition on October 14, 2014, and that he was not entitled to any benefits under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act.

On January 29, 2018, Bias filed a Form 30, Request for Commission Review. Oral arguments were held before the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission ("Commission") on April 16, 2018. On July 19, 2018, the Commission affirmed the Order of the Single Commissioner, without making any additional Findings of Fact or Conclusions of Law. Bias timely filed a Notice of Appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on August 13, 2018.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Bias, a 61-year-old military veteran, was employed with SCANA for a period of seventeen years. (Hearing Transcript p. 60, lines 7-8; p. 62, lines 4-8). Bias admittedly had a pre-existing lower back condition. (Hearing Transcript p. 64, lines 18-23). In 1983, Bias underwent surgery on his lower back due to a herniated disc. (Hearing Transcript p. 65, lines 3-5). In 2001, Bias began treating with Dr. Steven Poletti at Southeastern Spine Institute for low back and left leg pain. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 76) Bias continued to intermittently treat with Dr. Poletti in the years leading up to his work accident. (Hearing Transcript p. 65, lines 9-19). Prior to his injury at work on October 14, 2014, Bias's lower back and radicular symptoms were predominantly left-sided. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 135). Bias did complain of some right leg pain to Dr. Poletti's office in February of 2010; however, his right leg symptoms resolved following an injection. (Hearing Transcript p. 66, lines 17-25 – p. 67, lines 1-25; p. 68, lines 1-6; Claimant's APA #7, p. 88-89, 93-94).

On October 12, 2012, Bias returned to Dr. Poletti's office with complaints of back and left leg radicular symptoms. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 94). After a period of conservative treatment, Bias continued to complain of back and left leg symptoms. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 108). As a result, Dr. Poletti ultimately recommended and performed a redo laminectomy/disectomy at L5-S1 and laminectomy/disectomy at L4-L5 on March 7, 2014. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 108; p. 113-117). Following that surgery, Bias's symptoms and pain significantly improved, and he ultimately returned to work with SCANA. (Deposition of Dr. Poletti p. 28, lines 6-11; Hearing Transcript p. 69, lines 19-25; p. 175, lines 8-14; p. 88, lines 23-25; p. 89, lines 1-9; Claimant's APA #7, p. 118, 122, 123-124). In fact, at his deposition, Dr. Poletti confirmed Bias's condition improved after his surgery

in March 2014, and that Bias returned to work with minimal pain complaints. (Deposition of Dr. Poletti, p. 17, lines 11-15; Claimant's APA #7, p. 125).

While working for SCANA on October 14, 2014, Bias was walking down a flight of concrete stairs to check on a problem at a pond, when he slipped on some rocks and fell on his backside. (Hearing Transcript p. 64, lines 2-17). Bias immediately notified his supervisor, Anthony Miles, of his accident, and Bias informed his supervisor that he was having pain in his buttocks, both hands and left ankle. (Hearing Transcript p. 64, lines 2-17; Hearing Transcript p. 71, lines 9-12; Claimant's Exhibit A, p. 596). On the same date, Bias's supervisor sent an email detailing Bias's fall and injuries. (Claimant's Exhibit A, p. 596; Deposition of Terry Seagle p. 11, lines 3-9).

On October 15, 2014, the day after his fall at work, Bias presented to Dr. Poletti's Physician Assistant Lane Tuggle for a previously scheduled follow-up appointment. (Hearing Transcript p. 72, line – p. 73, line 2). Admittedly, at this appointment, Bias did not mention his documented fall at work from the day before, as he was not having any significant new symptoms at that time. (Hearing Transcript p. 72, lines 3-8; p. 72, lines 18-20; Deposition of Dr. Poletti p. 17, lines 16-18). Dr. Poletti testified it was not inconsistent or unusual for a patient to not complain of symptoms immediately after an accident. (Deposition of Dr. Poletti p. 22, lines 12-21; p. 37, line 12 – p. 38, line 3; p. 38, line 17 – p. 39, line 10). Dr. Poletti noted pain can increase over a few days following an injury and this would not be an abnormal occurrence. Id. Dr. LaMotta also testified it was not unusual to not experience the full effect of a fall or accident right away and noted it may take up to 48 hours for pain to materialize. (Deposition of Dr. LaMotta p. 33, lines 7-19; p. 33, lines 21-23).

A few days following his accident, Bias began experiencing low back pain radiating into his right leg, increased weakness, difficulty ambulating and left leg coldness and numbness. (Hearing Transcript p. 155, lines 2-8; Claimant's APA #7, p. 127-128; Deposition of Dr. Poletti p. 19, lines 10-12). As a result of his new and increasing symptoms, Bias contacted SCANA and requested medical treatment. (Hearing Transcript p. 73, line 12 – p. 74, line 10). SCANA scheduled Bias for an appointment with Dr. Weisglass; however, SCANA subsequently cancelled the appointment with Dr. Weisglass and instructed Bias to seek treatment with his personal physician. Id.

On October 22, 2014, eight days after his work accident, Bias was seen by Dr. Poletti's Physician's Assistant as a work-in appointment. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 127-128). At that visit, Bias described his work accident and complained of increased weakness, difficulty ambulating, and numbness and a cold feeling in his left leg. Id. Notably, Bias also reported that since the fall, he was experiencing increasing back pain and a new complaint of radiating pain down his right leg. Id. During examination, Bias was noted to have antalgic gait, positive straight leg raise, diminished reflexes on the left, difficulty with heel and toe raise on the left and slightly diminished range of motion of the lumbar spine. Id. Due to concerns that Bias had suffered a re-herniation in his back, a lumbar MRI was ordered. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 128).

On October 29, 2014, Bias underwent an MRI of his lumbar spine and returned for a follow up appointment with Dr. Poletti. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 129-131). At this time, Dr. Poletti noted Bias had increasing right-sided pain following the fall. Id. Dr. Poletti also reviewed the lumbar MRI and opined that it revealed a recurrent herniation. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 129). Dr. Poletti discussed surgical intervention at that time and opined Bias

was unable to return to work. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 129; Deposition of Dr. Poletti p. 28, lines 15-25).

On January 7, 2015, Dr. Poletti opined that Bias's L4-5 disc reherniation and his worsening back and leg pain were caused by his fall at work on October 14, 2014. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 135). Bias continued to treat with Dr. Poletti, and throughout his treatment, Dr. Poletti noted Bias's ongoing back pain, buttocks pain, hip pain, positive straight leg raise, bilateral leg weakness, difficulty with ambulation, urological dysfunction, including increased urinary urgency, numbness, cold sensations in the left leg, nerve damage, and increasing pain levels, which led him to change and increase Bias's medications. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 137, 139-141, 147, 149-151). Dr. Poletti opined Bias was a candidate for a lumbar fusion, but he was unsure if it would improve Bias's condition. (Deposition of Dr. Poletti, p. 29, lines 14-16).

On March 16, 2016, Bias was seen by Dr. Nicholas Lind, PsyD, a clinical psychologist with Post Trauma Resources, for an independent psychological evaluation. (Claimant's APA #6, p. 54-57). Dr. Lind diagnosed Bias with Adjustment Disorder with Depressed Mood, and he opined Bias's psychological condition was aggravated as a result of his October 14, 2014 work injuries. (Claimant's APA #6, p. 56 and 58; Deposition of Dr. Lind p. 37, lines 21-25; p. 38, lines 1-5; p. 40, lines -15; p. 47, lines 14-16; p. 49, lines 2-7; p. 54, lines 8-15; p. 55, lines 5-9; p. 58, lines 7-11; p. 61, lines 13-16). Dr. Lind recommended routine psychological and psychiatric treatment for as long as his pain persisted, medication to control his sleep disorder and an antidepressant for mood disorder. (Claimant's APA #6, p. 56 and 58; Deposition of Dr. Lind p. 45, line 17 – p. 46, line 3; p.

52, lines 7-11; p. 54, line 16 – p. 55, line 4). Dr. Lind indicated Bias was not at maximum medical improvement for his psychological injuries. (Claimant's APA #6, p. 56 and 58).

On March 22, 2016, Bias was seen by Dr. Justin Hutcheson with Carolina Center for Advanced Management of Pain for a pain management evaluation. (Claimant's APA #4, p. 22-25). Dr. Hutcheson noted Bias experienced left leg numbness, right leg pain, worsening foot drop, significant depressive symptoms and urological incontinence since his fall at work on October 14, 2014. (Claimant's APA #4, p. 24; Deposition of Dr. Hutcheson p. 14, lines 5-11; p. 28, line 23 – p. 30, line 5). Dr. Hutcheson opined Bias's fall at work aggravated his pre-existing condition. (Claimant's APA #4, p. 24-25; Deposition of Dr. Hutcheson p. 38, lines 14-20; p. 72, lines 18-20; p. 76, lines 22 – p. 77, line 5). He further opined that Bias would need lifetime pain management care to include ongoing medications, injections, physical therapy, imaging, durable medical equipment (for leg weakness, incontinence, back pain) and a spinal cord stimulator. (Claimant's APA #4, p. 24-25; Deposition of Dr. Hutcheson p. 72, lines 8-12). Dr. Hutcheson also indicated that Bias would need additional psychological care and urological treatment as a result of his work injury. (Claimant's APA #4, p. 24, 27). Dr. Hutcheson subsequently completed a Form 14B noting Bias sustained 26% whole person impairment for the lumbar spine as a result of his work injury. (Claimant's APA #4, p. 27).

On May 27, 2016, Bias was seen by Dr. Ross Rames, a urologist with MUSC, for an independent medical evaluation. (Claimant's APA #3, p. 17-20). Dr. Rames diagnosed Bias with urinary urgency, fecal urgency, urge incontinence and erectile dysfunction as a result of his October 14, 2014 work accident. Id. Dr. Rames noted evidence of sacral nerve

dysfunction with absent bulbocavernosal reflex. Id. Dr. Rames opined Bias would require further treatment. Id.

Bias presented to Dr. Ivan LaMotta with Midlands Orthopaedics and Neurosurgery for an evaluation on September 8, 2016. (Claimant's APA #2, p. 12-16). Dr. LaMotta opined that Bias sustained an aggravation of his pre-existing condition due to his October 14, 2014 work-related accident. (Claimant's APA #2, p. 15). However, in his deposition, while Dr. LaMotta testified that Bias's symptoms worsened after his fall at work, he was unable to testify to a reasonable degree of medical certainty as to the cause of the worsening. (Deposition of Dr. LaMotta p.68, line 16 – p. 69, line 7).

On December 20, 2016, over two years after Bias's fall at work, the deposition of Mr. Terry Seagle, the Safety and Training Coordinator at SCANA, was conducted. (Deposition of Terry Seagle p. 7, lines 3-4). During that deposition, and for the first time, it was revealed that there was an email between Bias's direct supervisor, Anthony Miles, and Mr. Seagle documenting Bias's fall and injuries on October 14, 2014. (Deposition of Terry Seagle p. 10, line 25; p. 11, lines 1-9; Claimant's Exhibit A, p. 596).

On January 18, 2017, SCANA sent Bias to Dr. Brett Gunter for an independent medical evaluation. (Claimant's APA #9, p. 162-165). Dr. Gunter's assessment was complex clinical syndrome, and he opined that Bias's back pain was more severe and his right leg pain was a new symptom since his work accident on October 14, 2014. Id. Dr. Gunter recommended an updated MRI in order to determine Bias's further treatment options. Id.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act establishes the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission. Fredrick v. Wellman, Inc., 385 S.C. 8, 682 S.E.2d 516 (Ct. App. 2009). Under the scope of review established in the Administrative Procedures Act, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse or modify the Commission's decision if the appellant's substantial rights have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record." *See* Stone v. Traylor Bros., Inc., 360 S.C. 271, 600 S.E.2d 551 (Ct. App. 2004).

Section 1-23-380(A)(5) of the South Carolina Code specifically provides:

**The Court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the Appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are . . . (d) affected by other error of law; (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. . . .**

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5) (2007)(Emphasis added).

Thus, "review is limited to deciding whether the Commission's decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law." Rodriguez v. Romero, 363 S.C. 80, 610 S.E.2d 488 (2005)(citing Hendricks v. Pickens County, 335 S.C. 405, 517 S.E.2d 698 (Ct. App. 1999)). The "substantial evidence" required to support the factual findings of the Commission is not a mere scintilla of evidence, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the

conclusion the Commission reached in order to justify its action. *See Mullinax v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 431, 458 S.E.2d 76 (Ct. App. 1995); *Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc.*, 336 S.C. 154, 519 S.E.2d 102 (1999).

Additionally, an award from the Commission cannot be based upon mere possibilities, probabilities, surmise or conjectures. *Broughton v. South Carolina Game & Fish Dept.*, 219 S.C. 50, 64 S.E.2d 152 (1951). If the findings of the Commission are based on surmise, speculation or conjecture, then the issue becomes one of law for the court and not of fact for the Commission. *Herndon v. Morgan Mills, Inc.*, 246 S.C. 201, 143 S.E.2d 376 (1965).

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The Commission erred in failing to find that Bias sustained a compensable injury by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment with SCANA on October 14, 2014.**

The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act allows a claimant who has a pre-existing condition to receive benefits for a subsequent work-related disability if he establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that the subsequent injury aggravated the pre-existing condition. *See* S.C. Code §42-9-35 (2007); Burnette v. City of Greenville, 401 S.C. 417, 737 S.E.2d 200 (Ct. App. 2012). Pursuant to S.C. Code §42-9-35, an employee is entitled to compensation benefits if the employee can "establish by a preponderance of the evidence, including medical evidence, that: (1) the subsequent injury aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment; or (2) the preexisting condition or the permanent physical impairment aggravates the subsequent injury."

In the present case, substantial evidence in the record does not support the Commission's finding that Bias failed to meet his burden of proving he sustained a compensable injury or aggravation of his pre-existing back condition on October 14, 2014. Instead, the overwhelming evidence in this case, including Bias's physical complaints, the objective findings and the medical testimony, clearly establishes that Bias sustained a compensable injury.

Bias had a pre-existing lower back condition, which required him to undergo surgery on March 7, 2014. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 108, 113-117) While Bias admittedly had some continued back pain and radicular pain down his left leg, his pain had significantly improved following surgery. (Hearing Transcript p. 69, lines 19-25; p. 70,

lines 1-2). On August 6, 2014, Dr. Poletti's Physician's Assistant confirmed Bias had great improvement in his overall strength and mobility and had minimal pain complaints, with some residual weakness and numbness in his left foot that was greatly improved and was continuing to get better. (Claimant's APA #7, p. 123; Deposition of Dr. Poletti p. 25, line 24 – p.26, line 9). Bias was able to return to work and perform his job duties at SCANA. (Hearing Transcript p. 69, lines 19-25). Additionally, Dr. Poletti, who performed the surgery in March 2014, confirmed Bias had a significant improvement with his pain following his surgery and leading up to his work accident. (Deposition of Dr. Poletti, p. 17, lines 11-15; Claimant's APA #7, p. 125).

On October 14, 2014, Bias was walking down a flight of concrete steps at SCANA in order to check a problem at a pond, when he slipped on some rocks, fell and landed on his backside. (Hearing Transcript p. 63, lines 24-25; p. 64, lines 1-17). Bias immediately notified his supervisor, Anthony Miles, of his accident, and Bias informed his supervisor that he was having pain in his buttocks, both hands and left ankle. (Hearing Transcript p. 64, lines 2-17; Hearing Transcript p. 71, lines 9-12; Claimant's Exhibit A, p. 596). Mr. Miles sent an email to Mr. Terry Seagle, the Safety and Training Coordinator at SCANA, documenting Bias's accident and injuries. (Claimant's Exhibit A, p. 596).

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