THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No.: 2018-001516
W.C.C. File No.: 14211397

Johnnie Bias, Employee/Claimant, Appellant,

v.

SCANA Corporation, Self-Insured Employer, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 17 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Grady L. Beard, Esquire (Bar # 10190)
Nicolas L. Haigler, Esquire (Bar # 76684)
Meredith Ross, Esquire (Bar # 102358)
Robinson Gray Stepp & Laffitte, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 929-1400

Attorneys for Respondent

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

A. The IME's on which the claimant relies to support his claim were conducted following the review of incomplete evidence.

As an initial matter, each of the IME's the claimant secured were properly discounted by the Commission as they were conducted following the review of incomplete evidence. Each of the claimant's IME doctors – Dr. LaMotta, Dr. Hutcheson, and Dr. Lind – received a letter which purported to summarize the voluminous medical records that were submitted in preparation for the IME. (R. pp. 401-413, 639-643). The letter, which framed these doctors' understanding of the claimant's medical background and course of treatment from the alleged injury, omitted an appointment with Southeastern Spine the day after the claimant's alleged fall. (R. pp. 401-413, 639-643). It is an obviously troublesome report for the claimant, as he failed to mention *the day after* his alleged fall any such event, and furthermore reported his back was doing well. This was a clear attempt by the claimant's counsel to veil pertinent evidence which supports the respondent's position that there was no compensable injury. Dr. Lind and Dr. Hutcheson noted it was "strange," and "odd," that the summary of the October 15, 2014 report was omitted from the letter. (R. pp. 517, 598). However, the respondent does not find it odd or strange – rather they find it to be a clear attempt to blunt the force of bad evidence for the claimant. If the IME doctors cannot rely upon the claimant's counsel to provide them with an unedited version of the claimant's

treatment, then certainly the Commission cannot expect those doctors to provide an accurate and complete evaluation upon which it can base a compensability determination.

B. Substantial evidence supports the Commission's conclusion that Claimant failed to meet his burden of proof.

Even if the claimant's condition has worsened since mid-October 2014, substantial evidence supports the Commission's conclusion that the worsening was not necessarily caused by the claimant's alleged fall and that the claimant failed to meet his burden of proof. According to South Carolina law, "[t]he claimant has the burden of proving facts that will bring the injury within the workers' compensation law, and such award must not be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation." Crisp v. SouthCo., 401 S.C. 627, 641, 738 S.E.2d 835, 842 (2013). The respondent maintains the worsening of the claimant's state was likely caused by the continued deterioration of the claimant's long-standing back condition. (R. p. 695). The claimant's complaints at the time of the hearing were of left foot drop and numbness in his left foot and calf, left-side pain that goes across his buttocks, right side lower back pain across his hip and down his right leg and foot, and numbness in his right foot. (R. pp. 134-135). He also complained of urinary incontinence and erectile issues. (R. p. 135). According to relevant caselaw, "the right of a claimant to compensation for exacerbation of a pre-existing condition arises only where there is a dormant condition which has produced no disability, but which becomes disabling by reason of the aggravating injury." Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co., 360 S.C. 276, 295, 599 S.E.2d 604, 614 (2004). Under these circumstances, it would be a gross mischaracterization of the evidence to describe the claimant's underlying condition as "dormant."

Under the claimant's own admission, he has treated for back pain for the last thirty years, including a surgery in March 2014, just seven months prior to his purported fall. (R. p. 123). At the time of that procedure, the claimant was suffering from pain in his back, left leg, and right leg

symptomology, beginning in 2010. (R. pp. 123-124). Since the 1980's, the claimant has treated with Dr. Jones, Dr. Poletti, and other physicians, receiving treatment in the form of injections, medication, at least two operations, and the use of a TENS unit. (R. p. 158). The medical records indicate, and the claimant admitted he complained of right side low back, buttock, and right lower extremity pain in 2010, and pain radiating down both legs as a result of a motor vehicle accident in 1992. (R. pp. 168-170). He confirmed during the Hearing this evidence conflicts with his deposition testimony in which he claimed he had no prior issues with his right leg. (R. pp. 168-170). He admitted to taking medication for his back the very morning of his fall and said he was experiencing some back issues around that time. (R. p. 200).

Dr. Epstein treated the claimant in 1993 and assigned him 20% impairment to his lumbar spine and opined his condition would worsen in the future and he would require one or more disc surgeries. (R. p. 378). He treated with Denmark Medical Center from 2001 to 2005 for pain radiating down his left leg, neuropathy and chronic back pain, and treating with pain medication. (R. p. 175). He began treating with Dr. Jones in 2006 who continued to prescribe him the same medications until he returned to Dr. Poletti in 2010. (R. p. 175).

After the back surgery with Dr. Poletti in 2014, the claimant wore a brace for his left foot drop. (R. p. 193). Despite this use of the brace following the surgery, the claimant told Dr. Hutcheson he began wearing the brace only after his fall in October 2014, an inconsistency which led Dr. Hutcheson to withdraw his questionnaire in which he opined the claimant's foot drop was caused by his alleged fall in October 2014. (R. pp. 532-534, 537). Dr. LaMotta was shown the statement from Dr. Hutcheson's IME, that the claimant "now wears AFO brace, left foot, due to foot drop, left leg numbness is new since . . . fall, has four out of five at L4-5, recurrent pain since fall," and confirmed the statement was inaccurate. (R. p. 695).

The claimant's complaints of impotence and urinary incontinence are also suspect in that they are either inconsistent with contemporaneous medical records, or a continuation of prior issues. In considering the impotence issues the claimant alleges were caused by his fall, he admitted at the hearing he has treated for similar issues since 1992 that came and went. (R. pp. 135, 177, 377). He was even offered a prescription for Viagra in 2006, which he declined. He took Levitra or Cialis periodically from 2008 to 2012. (R. p. 178, 379). The claimant's complaints of urinary incontinence are called into question by the lack of any mention of same in any of Dr. Poletti's records from May of 2015 to May of 2016, the period of time during which the claimant told Dr. Rames he was suffering from incontinence. (R. p. 220, 255).

Dr. LaMotta performed an IME of the claimant in September 2016 and opined the claimant's problems were casually-related to his alleged fall by way of an aggravation of a pre-existing condition. (R. p. 252). However, during his deposition, Dr. LaMotta confirmed he was not sure if he was provided the report from Dr. Poletti's office from the day following the claimant's alleged fall, and that it was not in the letter summarizing all of the claimant's prior treatment. (R. pp. 406-413, 650-651). It became apparent during Dr. LaMotta's deposition that he was unaware of the claimant's many back issues between his back herniation in 1983 and re-herniation and surgery in 2014. Dr. LaMotta's understanding of the 31-year-period between 1983 and 2014 was that the claimant was doing better until he re-herniated in March 2014 and needed surgery. (R. p. 653). However, he was presented with multiple medical records disproving that assumption.¹ Dr. LaMotta stated during his deposition that according to the records he received, the claimant's issues were predominantly on his left side before October 2014, an opinion which he admitted was

¹ Specifically, Dr. LaMotta was shown a report of a re-herniation in 1992, a 20% impairment rating to the lumbar spine in 1993, back pain radiating to the right leg from 2010, record of a disc herniation in 2010, and the assignment of a 10% impairment rating in 2004.

based upon the claimant's own statements rather than a review of the records from 1983. (R. p. 654).

He confirmed during his deposition that the claimant has had a long history of continuous lumbar spine problems including multiple herniations over time, of which he was not aware prior to the deposition. (R. p. 665). He also confirmed the claimant was having right-sided symptoms during that time. (R. p. 666). He concluded that given the years of recurrent herniations, two back surgeries, multiple injections and use of medication, the claimant was extremely prone to redeveloping and worsening of symptoms leading up to his accident in 2014. (R. p. 667). Importantly, he also noted back herniations can be caused by things such as a simple twist while sleeping, sneezing, or coughing. (R. p. 671). When reviewing the report from Dr. Poletti's office from the day following the claimant's alleged fall, which stated he was in no acute distress and was greatly improved since surgery, he stated that he would have expected someone with the claimant's pre-existing condition, if aggravated, to have experienced immediate pain following a fall. (R. p. 675). Finally, Dr. LaMotta, one of the claimant's chosen independent medical examiners, opined that the symptoms the claimant was experiencing were more likely than not just continuing deterioration of his lumbar spine and a worsening of his lumbar spine condition based upon the natural history of his pathology and not necessarily the alleged fall. (R. pp. 685-686). He noted this "may be necessarily why he doesn't complain of pain right after his fall on 10-15, but he alleges that he's doing fine perhaps that particular day." (R. pp. 685-686). According to Dr. LaMotta, it was not unexpected that the claimant be in his present condition regardless of an accident. (R. pp. 685-686).

In reviewing the MRI's from February 2014 and October 2014, Dr. LaMotta opined they were very similar and stated he could not say to within a reasonable degree of medical certainty that a

fall in October 2014 caused a worsening of the claimant's symptoms "because there is ample medical evidence of the claimant's back pain waxing and waning, alternating leg pain with intermittent symptoms of both lower extremities in addition to sexual dysfunction as early as 2008." (R. p. 707). Dr. LaMotta also opined the claimant "could have used psychiatric help long ago because of the chronicity of his symptoms" and that his psychological issues were likely the result of his longstanding spine condition rather than any type of injury. (R. p. 708). Dr. LaMotta's deposition occurred just days prior to the initially scheduled Hearing in June 2017, making his the only medical deposition where the IME doctor had the benefit of viewing *all* of the claimant's relevant medical records.

Dr. Poletti, the claimant's long-time treating physician, confirmed the claimant's leg pain alternated from side to side and that on at least one occasion he treated him for right leg pain. (R. p. 448). He confirmed in his deposition that given the claimant's pre-existing condition, he could develop new symptoms without a trauma or accident and that his opinion casually relating the claimant's symptoms to his alleged work accident was based only upon the claimant's statements. (R. pp. 455-456). He opined that the disc herniation in the claimant's MRI from October 29, 2014 could have been caused by trauma or by "activities of daily living." (R. p. 457). Dr. Poletti agreed it was unusual that in the report from his office from October 15, 2014, there was no documentation of a fall from the day before. (R. p. 475). Furthermore, of note in Dr. Poletti's deposition testimony, was his insistence that he is a "patient advocate." (R. pp. 458, 473). If Dr. Poletti is an advocate for the claimant, he cannot also profess to provide an impartial medical opinion regarding causation.

Based upon the evidence including medical records, deposition testimony, and the claimant's own Hearing testimony, the claimant's symptomology was not dormant and was continuously

waxing and waning for the last thirty years. The claimant contends Dr. Poletti, Dr. Hutcheson, Dr. Rames and Dr. Lind support his allegation of an injury or aggravation of a pre-existing condition due to an October 14, 2014 accident. However, Dr. Poletti admitted his opinion was based only upon the claimant's own statements. (R. pp. 455-456). Dr. Hutcheson completely withdrew his opinion regarding the claimant's left foot drop based upon the fact that the claimant withheld his prior use of the foot brace. (R. pp. 532-534, 537). Dr. Rames's opinion was contradicted by the records from Dr. Poletti's office in which the claimant made no claim of incontinence, and Dr. Lind was unaware of the claimant's prior use of sleep aids or his years of issues with impotence. (R. pp. 603, 609). Additionally, Dr. LaMotta completely reversed his opinion that the claimant's symptomology was casually related to a fall at work. (R. p. 707). Furthermore, Dr. Hutcheson and Dr. Lind's IME's were both based upon manipulated evidence in that they were given an inaccurate summary of the claimant's course of treatment. Accordingly, substantial evidence in this case supports the Commission's finding that the claimant failed to meet his burden of establishing an exacerbation of a pre-existing condition.

II. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE CLAIMANT'S CONTENTION THAT THE COMMISSION IMPROPERLY RELIED UPON THE CLAIMANT'S RECEIPT OF SOCIAL SECURITY DISABILITY, LONG TERM DISABILITY, AND USE OF MEDICAL INSURANCE TO COVER HIS TREATMENT IN DETERMINING THE CLAIMANT DID NOT SUSTAIN A COMPENSABLE WORK-RELATED INJURY

The claimant attempts to create an appealable issue by arguing the Commission "erred in considering [Claimant's] receipt of Social Security Disability and Long Term disability benefits as well as his medical insurance payments when rendering the decision that [Claimant] did not sustain a compensable injury." However, while it is indisputable that the Commission found the claimant received long-term disability and Social Security Disability benefits, there is no evidence the Commission "relied" on these findings of fact as the claimant suggests.

The claimant cites to Solomon v. W.B. Easton, Inc., 307 S.C. 518, 415 S.E.2d 841 (1992), in making his argument that the Commission cannot consider a claimant's receipt of Social Security Disability in determining issues of compensability. In Solomon, the claimant wanted the Commission to consider his disability rating from the Social Security Administration. Id. at 521, 415 S.E.2d at 843. While the Court of Appeals found this argument unpreserved, it noted such records "ordinarily cannot be relied upon to support or deny a workers' compensation claim." Id. Here, there is no evidence that the Commission relied upon any records from the Social Security Administration in determining the claimant failed to meet his burden of proof.

The claimant quotes a section from the Hearing transcript during which the Single Commissioner questioned the claimant about his receipt of these benefits following his testimony. However, the colloquy quoted was merely the Single Commissioner making sure the claimant was aware of his inability to collect both workers' compensation and disability benefits. As Claimant's brief notes, whether the claimant would have to reimburse benefits he received for disability has no bearing on his workers' compensation claim, and there is no evidence indicating the Hearing Commissioner felt otherwise. Claimant contends the Commission improperly relied upon Claimant's receipt of disability benefits by noting the Commission listed the claimant's receipt of Social Security Disability and long-term disability benefits in the Findings of Fact. However, there is no mention of either in the Conclusions of Law, nor has the claimant shown any nexus between those Findings of Fact and the Commission's decision.

The claimant mentions the Commission also noted the claimant's health insurance carrier paid for his medical treatment. However, as there is no citation to any legal authority that such a consideration constitutes reversible error, Respondent considers this argument to be abandoned. See Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App.

2001) (“South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review.”)

As the claimant has presented no evidence the Commission improperly *relied* upon his receipt of disability benefits and abandoned his argument regarding his private health insurance, there is no reversible error.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the Respondent respectfully requests the Court of Appeals to affirm the Decision and Order of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission.